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JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT 

 Appellant New Union Wildlife Federation (NUWF) properly filed a complaint in the 

United States District Court for the District of New Union seeking review under 28 U.S.C. § 

1331 (2006) of issues arising under the Clean Water Act (CWA), 33 U.S.C. § 1251 (2006). The 

district court granted appellee Jim Bob Bowman’s motion for summary judgment on all counts 

and denied the NUWF’s motion for summary judgment. The district court’s order is a final 

decision, and jurisdiction is proper in this court pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1291 (2006).  

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES 

I. Whether the NUWF has associational standing to sue Bowman for violating the CWA 

in order to protect its members’ interest in preserving the integrity of the affected 

wildlife habitat.  

II. Whether the residual effects of Bowman’s past discharge constitute an ongoing 

violation within the meaning of the CWA, despite the Supreme Court’s ruling that § 

505(a) of the CWA does not confer jurisdiction over wholly past violations. 

III. Whether the NUWF’s suit against Bowman is barred because the New Union 

Department of Environmental Protection (NUDEP) is currently prosecuting Bowman 

pursuant to § 505(b) of the CWA and the underlying presumption that the NUDEP’s 

prosecution is diligent absent evidence to the contrary.  

IV. Whether Bowman’s redepositing of dredged material met the definition of “addition” 

and therefore violated §§ 301 and 404 of the CWA.  

STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

 

This case comes before the court on appeal from a final order of the District Court for the 

District of New Union granting Bowman’s motion for summary judgment on all grounds and 
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denying the NUWF’s motion for summary judgment. (R. 3). The NUWF filed a complaint in the 

district court pursuant to § 505 of the CWA, 33 U.S.C. § 1365 (2006), against Bowman for 

allegedly violating §§ 301(a) and 404 of the CWA. 33 U.S.C. §§ 1311(a), 1344 (2006). The 

NUDEP intervened as an interested party because it was simultaneously engaged in a lawsuit 

with Bowman and entered into a settlement agreement concerning the same facts at issue in this 

case. (R. 5). 

Following discovery, Bowman and the NUWF both filed motions for summary judgment. 

Id. The NUDEP joined Bowman’s motion for summary judgment concerning the continuing 

violation and diligent prosecution issues but joined the NUWF’s motions for summary judgment 

on the standing and the CWA violation issues. Id. The district court found that the NUWF lacked 

standing, the alleged violations were wholly past, the prior state action amounted to diligent 

prosecution, and that Bowman’s actions did not violate the CWA. (R. 11). The NUWF filed a 

Notice of Appeal challenging all four of the district court’s holdings. (R. 1). The NUDEP filed a 

Notice of Appeal challenging the district court’s findings that the NUWF did not have standing 

and that Bowman did not violate the CWA through his actions. Id.  

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS 

 

 Bowman owns one thousand acres adjacent to the Muddy River which forms the border 

between the states of New Union and Progress for forty miles upstream and downstream of 

Bowman’s property. (R. 3). Bowman’s property is hydrologically connected to the Muddy and is 

a wetland as determined by the U.S. Army Corps of Engineers (USACE). (R. 3-4).  

On June 15, 2011, Bowman used a bulldozer to clear and level a portion of his land to 

make a field. (R. 4). He then dug trenches into which he pushed the trees, leveled vegetation 

remains, and ash. (R. 4). Afterward, Bowman formed a ditch to drain the field into the Muddy. 
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Id. Shortly thereafter, on July 1, 2011, the NUDEP sent notice to Bowman of its intent to sue 

under § 505 of the CWA; the NUDEP also notified Bowman that clearing his land was a 

violation of both state and federal law. Id. 

On August 1, 2011, Bowman and the NUDEP entered into a settlement agreement 

requiring that Bowman: (1) not clear wetlands on his property; (2) convey a conservation 

easement to the NUDEP of the still wooded part of his property plus an additional artificial 

wetland in a 75-foot zone that allows public entry for recreational purposes, improved 

“viewscape” of the Muddy River, and an enhanced environment for frogs; (3) construct and 

maintain this year-round wetland on the 75-foot zone himself, and; (4) not alter the easement 

area in any way other than constructing and maintaining the artificial wetland. (R. 4, 7-8). 

Furthermore, the NUDEP imposed the above requirements at a “considerable initial expense and 

an indeterminable future expense” to Bowman. (R. 8). 

On August 30, 2011, the NUWF filed a § 505 action under the CWA seeking civil 

penalties and a restorative injunction. (R. 5). Three members of the NUWF have submitted 

affidavits attesting to their fear that Bowman’s violations will affect their respective use of the 

wetlands and the Muddy River, including frogging and other recreational activities. (R. 6). On 

August 10, 2011, the NUDEP filed suit in federal court, and on September 5, 2011, the NUDEP 

furthered its action by filing a motion to enter the settlement agreement as a decree, which is still 

pending. (R. 5).  

STANDARD OF REVIEW 

 The district court rendered summary judgment in favor of Bowman. Summary judgment 

is only appropriate where “there is no genuine issue as to any material fact.” FED. R. CIV. P. 
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56(a). This court reviews the granting of summary judgment using a de novo standard. Griffin v. 

United Parcel Service, Inc., 661 F.3d 216 (5th Cir. 2011).  

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT 

The NUWF has put forth sufficient allegations to obtain standing and satisfy the case or 

controversy requirement. First, its representative members would be able to obtain standing in 

their own right, but in this case, the interests of the members are best served by obtaining relief 

as a group. The members allege a reasonable fear of contamination of both the wetland and the 

Muddy River along with a decrease in their recreational and aesthetic enjoyment of the area. 

Since Bowman’s actions are of the type that can cause the injuries alleged and Bowman has 

failed to point to an alternative source of the injuries, those injuries are fairly traceable to 

Bowman’s actions. The NUWF alleges that the CWA violations are ongoing, thereby making the 

injuries suffered from the violations redressable through a restorative injunction or civil 

penalties. Second, the NUWF brought this suit to protect the fish and wildlife habitat on and 

surrounding Bowman’s land, which is an interest germane to the organization’s purpose. Finally, 

neither the claim asserted nor the relief requested demands individualized proof necessitating the 

participation of the individual members in the suit. 

The NUWF alleges that the residual effects of Bowman’s past discharges constitute an 

ongoing violation within the scope of § 505(a) of the CWA. Both legal precedent and policy 

implications refute those allegations. First, § 505 does not confer subject matter jurisdiction over 

wholly past violations because Congress has expressly disallowed such actions. Second, the 

notice requirement in § 505(b) would be significantly diminished and practically written out of 

the CWA if individuals could bring suits for past violations.  



5 

 

Allowing suits for past violations also flies in the face of public policy and the very 

essence of § 301 of the CWA. Primary to the public policy concerns is that § 301 requires a 

violation to include a “point source” which in this case is Bowman’s bulldozer. Because 

Bowman’s bulldozer is essentially unusable given his agreement with the NUDEP, a CWA 

violation cannot in good faith be considered likely to recur. Consequently, the NUWF’s civil 

action brought 45 days following the end of Bowman’s land clearing operation cannot overcome 

Bowman’s motion for summary judgment for lack of subject matter jurisdiction.  

The NUDEP’s diligent prosecution of Bowman should bar the NUWF’s citizen-plaintiff 

suit. Citizens may not file a claim against a polluter under the CWA if the government is already 

diligently prosecuting the case, and the primary requirement of diligent prosecution is just that: 

diligence. An agency’s prosecution is considered diligent so long as it is capable of 

accomplishing compliance with the CWA and is purported to do so in good faith. In order to 

streamline the enforcement of the CWA and avoid conflicting suits, the designated government 

agency is given preference over citizen suits, which are only allowed to support not supplant 

government suits. Therefore, barring the NUWF’s citizen suit is in keeping with both the 

application and purpose of the diligent prosecution standard. 

Despite this court lacking subject matter jurisdiction, Bowman’s initial actions violated 

§§ 301 and 404 of the CWA. Bowman’s actions constituted an “addition” to a navigable water 

despite the fact that he added nothing from the “outside world” to the water. The “outside world” 

definition of addition adopted by the lower court, which was previously used in the context of § 

402 permits, ignores the congressional intent behind § 404 and the damage caused to the aquatic 

ecosystem by redepositing dredged material. Further, an “outside world” definition would 
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essentially read § 404 out of the CWA and provide land developers with a loophole in which 

they could completely avoid the CWA’s regulation of wetlands.  

The Environmental Protection Agency’s (EPA) interpretation of “addition” contained 

within the unitary navigable waters theory deserves no deference in this case. As co-

administrator of § 404 of the CWA, the EPA’s interpretations are not entitled to deference 

without any input from the USACE. Further, this interpretation was developed as part of a 

litigation tactic in § 402 cases and has since been abandoned by the EPA in the context of § 404 

as evidenced in amicus briefs filed by the EPA. Finally, the preamble to the final rule containing 

the “outside world” interpretation explicitly states that it should not be applied to § 404 permits. 

ARGUMENT 

 

I. THE NUWF HAS ASSOCIATIONAL STANDING TO CHALLENGE 

BOWMAN’S ACTIONS. 

 

 A plaintiff must first establish standing to satisfy the case or controversy requirement set 

by Article III, § 2, before a case can be decided on the merits. U.S. CONST. art. III, § 2. At the 

summary judgment stage, a party has standing unless “there is no genuine dispute as to any 

material fact” regarding standing. Fed. R. Civ. P. 56(a) (emphasis added). An association has 

“standing to bring suit on behalf of its members when: (a) its members would otherwise have 

standing to sue in their own right; (b) the interests it seeks to protect are germane to the 

organization’s purpose; and (c) neither the claim asserted nor the relief requested requires the 

participation of individual members in the lawsuit.” Hunt v. Wash. State Apple Adver. Comm’n, 

432 U.S. 333, 343 (1977). Under the CWA, standing may be granted to any “person or persons 

having an interest which is or may be adversely affected.” 33 U.S.C. § 1365(a), (g) (1987) 

(emphasis added).  
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 The fear and concern the NUWF members expressed about the effects Bowman’s actions 

will have on the wetland and the Muddy River is sufficient to establish standing. The expressed 

fear and concern is fairly traceable to Bowman’s activities and may be redressed through the 

relief sought. While the representative members would have standing to sue in their own right, 

their participation is not required in light of the claim asserted and the relief sought by the 

NUWF. Finally, the NUWF brought suit against Bowman to ensure the protection of the wetland 

and the Muddy River. These interests are germane to the NUWF’s purpose of protecting wildlife 

habitats, and for these reasons, this court should reverse the district court’s holding and find that 

the NUWF has standing.  

 A.  The NUWF’s members satisfy the Lujan test for individual standing. 

 In order to satisfy the first element of associational standing, the representative members 

of the NUWF must meet the requirements set out in Lujan v. Defenders of Wildlife. 504 U.S. 555 

(1992). The Court in Lujan established that in order to have standing: (1) “the plaintiff must have 

suffered an ‘injury in fact,’” (2) the injury must be “fairly traceable to the challenged action of 

the defendant,” and (3) the injury must be redressable by a favorable decision. Id. at 560-61. The 

NUWF members are able to trace recognizable injuries back to Bowman’s actions. Further, these 

injuries can be redressed by civil penalties and a restorative injunction. Therefore, the 

representative members satisfy the Lujan standing test and the first element of the Hunt 

associational standing test. 

1. The NUWF members allege sufficient injury to achieve 

standing through their reasonable fear of pollution and their 

decreased enjoyment of the Muddy River and neighboring 

wetlands.  

 

 Courts have recognized that the CWA has a “low threshold” for establishing standing. 

Sierra Club, Lone Star Chapter v. Cedar Point Oil, Inc., 73 F.3d 546 (5th Cir. 1996). The low 
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threshold of injury for achieving standing is even more evident in various court decisions 

allowing “an identifiable trifle” to suffice. Conservation Council of N.C. v. Costanzo, 505 F.2d 

498, 501 (4th Cir. 1974) (citing United States v. Students Challenging Regulatory Agency 

Procedures (SCRAP), 412 U.S. 669, 687-89 (1973)). In the context of environmental law 

violations, the Supreme Court has recognized that injury to “aesthetic and environmental well-

being” is adequate to award standing to a plaintiff. Sierra Club v. Morton, 405 U.S. 727, 734 

(1972). Plaintiffs need to prove no more than an alleged fear and concern about the potential 

effects the challenged activity will have on the environment and their use of the affected area to 

survive summary judgment. Ecological Rights Found. v. Pac. Lumber Co., 230 F.3d 1141, 1150-

51 (9th Cir. 2000) (citing Friends of the Earth, Inc. v. Laidlaw Envtl. Servs., Inc., 528 U.S. 167 

(2000) (holding satisfactory the affidavits and testimony of the members of the association 

alleging “reasonable concerns about the effects” of the discharges in question)). Actual harm to 

the environment may never need to be proved in suits brought under the CWA. Id. at 1151. 

Instead, the standard employed in evaluating injury under the CWA is “whether an individual 

can show that she has been injured in her use of a particular area because of concerns about 

violations of environmental laws.” Id. (citing Laidlaw, 528 U.S. at 181) (emphasis added).  

 All three of the NUWF members submitted affidavits and testified to using “the Muddy 

for recreational boating and fishing, often picnicking on its banks, on or in the vicinity of 

Bowman’s property.” (R. 6). The members also stated that “they are aware of the differences and 

feel a loss from the destruction of the wetlands, fearing the Muddy is more polluted as a result 

and will be far more polluted if other adjacent wetlands are cleared and drained for agricultural 

purposes.” Id. Specifically, Milford stated that the “Muddy looks more polluted to her than it did 

prior to Bowman’s activities,” and Norton testified that the number of frogs he collects while 
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frogging has gone down drastically. Id. Both of these observations were made in reference to 

Bowman’s land and the immediate area surrounding his land. Id. 

 Given the low standard recognized by the abovementioned courts, the members’ 

affidavits contain many cognizable injuries, any one of which would be sufficient to award 

standing to the NUWF. All three members fear that Bowman’s actions polluted the wetland and 

the Muddy and, in turn, are damaging their aesthetic and environmental interests. Milford’s and 

Norton’s specific claims further solidify the satisfaction of the injury in fact requirement.  

2.  The alleged injuries are fairly traceable to Bowman’s actions 

because there is no other source of pollution Bowman can point 

to as the cause of the injuries. 

 

 The fact that the Court requires the injury to be “fairly traceable” as opposed to “directly 

traceable” is telling of the minimal amount of proof required to satisfy this element. To that 

extent, a plaintiff is not required to employ any scientific processes to establish the origins of a 

pollutant. Friends of the Earth, Inc. v. Gaston Copper Recycling Corp., 204 F.3d 149, 161-62 

(4th Cir. 2000). Instead, the purpose of the “fairly traceable” element is to guarantee that the 

alleged injury does not flow from “the independent action of some third party not before the 

court.” Lujan, 504 U.S. at 560. With this policy goal in mind, plaintiffs can satisfy the fairly 

traceable element by showing “that a defendant discharges a pollutant that ‘causes or contributes 

to the kinds of injuries alleged by the plaintiffs.’” Natural Res. Def. Council, Inc. v. Watkins, 954 

F.2d 974, 980 (4th Cir. 1992) (quoting Pub. Interest Research Grp., Inc. v. Powell Duffryn 

Terminals, Inc., 913 F.2d 64, 72 (3d Cir. 1990)); see also Gaston, 204 F.3d at 162 (stating 

“[w]here a plaintiff has pointed to a polluting source as the seed of his injury, and the owner of 

the polluting source has supplied no alternative culprit, the ‘fairly traceable’ requirement can be 

said to be fairly met”).  
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The fairly traceable test for CWA violations, as explained in Powell Duffryn, requires a 

plaintiff to show that “‘a defendant has (1) discharged some pollutant in concentrations greater 

than allowed by its permit (2) into a waterway in which the plaintiffs have an interest that is or 

may be adversely affected by the pollutant and that (3) the pollutant causes or contributes to the 

kinds of injuries alleged by the plaintiff.’” Cedar Point Oil, 73 F.3d at 557-58. (emphasis added).  

Regardless of the test adopted by this Court, appellants have provided far more evidence 

than has been required by the Supreme Court in the past. SCRAP, 412 U.S. 669 (1973). In 

SCRAP, plaintiffs were law school students who claimed their aesthetic and recreational interests 

in the “forests, rivers, streams, mountains and other natural resources surrounding the 

Washington Metropolitan area” were injured by freight rate increases on recyclable goods. Id. at 

672-78. The Court detailed the line of reasoning used in SCRAP as, “a general rate increase 

would allegedly cause increased use of nonrecyclable commodities as compared to recyclable 

goods, thus resulting in the need to use more natural resources to produce such goods, some of 

which resources might be taken from the Washington area, and resulting in more refuse that 

might be discarded in national parks in the Washington area.” Id. at 688. (emphasis added). 

Despite SCRAP coming before the Court on a motion to dismiss on the pleadings, the Court 

acknowledged standing would have been found at the summary judgment stage if the complaint 

was alleged with more specificity, “for example, by naming a specific forest that was used.” 

Nat’l Wildlife Fed’n v. Burford, 835 F.2d 305, 312 (D.C. Cir. 1987) (citing SCRAP, 412 U.S. at 

689 n. 15). 

The SCRAP line of reasoning is far more attenuated than the link between the appellants’ 

fear of negative effects on the water quality of the wetland and the Muddy River from a 

discharge of pollutants into adjacent navigable waters. First, Bowman does not have a § 402 or a 
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§ 404 permit, therefore “any discharge exceeds that which is allowed under the CWA.” Cedar 

Point Oil, 73 F.3d at 558. Second, the plaintiffs have detailed in their affidavits and depositions 

that they each use Bowman’s land and portions of the Muddy River adjacent to Bowman’s land. 

(R. 6). Last, Bowman’s discharge of pollutants into the Muddy River and neighboring wetland 

caused the plaintiffs’ fear and concern over the pollution of the Muddy and contributes to the 

alleged reduction in number of frogs. Because Bowman cannot point to any third party as the 

source of these alleged injuries, the NUWF’s injuries are “fairly traceable” to him.  

3. The injuries alleged by the NUWF members are redressable 

through civil penalties and a restorative injunction because the 

NUWF alleges an ongoing violation. 

 

 In order to prevail on standing, the plaintiff must show that they have sustained 

redressable injuries. Laidlaw, 528 U.S. at 185. Satisfaction of the redressability element in a 

standing analysis turns upon whether or not a plaintiff can allege a continuing violation of the 

relevant statute. Id. at 187-88; see also Steel Co. v. Citizens for a Better Env’t, 523 U.S. 83, 108-

10 (1998) (stating that if plaintiffs would have “alleged a continuing violation or the imminence 

of a future violation, the injunctive relief requested would remedy [the] alleged harm); Idaho 

Conservation League v. Atlanta Gold Corp., 844 F. Supp. 2d 1116, 1131 (D. Idaho 2012) 

(stating that at the summary judgment stage “[p]laintiffs are not required to prove ongoing 

violations . . . instead, they have to make good faith allegations of ongoing violations”) 

(emphasis in original). Additionally, a plaintiff must establish “standing separately for each form 

of relief sought.” Laidlaw, 528 U.S. at 185.  

 In our case, the NUWF has proven that they have sustained redressable injuries, supra. 

The NUWF is requesting both civil penalties and a restorative injunction in remedy of those 

injuries. (R. 5). Even when analyzed separately, both forms of relief requested by the NUWF are 
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proper under the analysis employed in the abovementioned cases. Further, the NUWF makes 

clear their allegations with respect to ongoing violations; therefore they satisfy the redressability 

requirement for the injunctive relief requested. (R. 2). According to Laidlaw, that is the only 

prerequisite in satisfying the redressability requirement. Laidlaw, 528 U.S. at 187 (noting that the 

presence of an allegation in the complaint is pivotal to the issue of standing).  

B. The interests the NUWF seeks to protect in this suit are germane to 

the NUWF’s purpose and neither the claim nor the relief requested 

requires the participation of the representative members. 

 

Aside from the members of the association having standing in their individual capacity to 

bring suit, an association must also show that the interests it seeks to protect are germane to the 

association’s purpose and that the participation of the individual members is not required. Hunt, 

432 U.S. at 343.  

 The NUWF easily satisfies the second element of the Hunt associational standing test 

requiring that “the interests [the association] seeks to protect are germane to the organization’s 

purpose.” Id.. This element is an undemanding one, requiring only “‘mere pertinence between 

litigation subject and organizational purpose.’” Bldg. & Constr. Trades Council v. Downtown 

Dev., Inc., 448 F.3d 138, 148 (2d Cir. 2006) (quoting Nat’l Lime Ass’n v. Envtl. Prot. Agency, 

233 F.3d 625, 636-37 (D.C. Cir. 2000)). In the present case, the subject of litigation is the 

pollution of wetlands and waterways. This is not only germane to, but is also at the core of the 

NUWF’s stated purpose of protecting “the fish and wildlife of the state by protecting their 

habitats.” (R. 4).  

 The third prong of the Hunt associational standing test is satisfied by the NUWF because 

“neither the claim asserted nor the relief requested requires the participation of individual 

members in the lawsuit.” Hunt, 432 U.S. at 343 (holding that this element was satisfied because 
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the types of relief requested did not require “individualized proof and [] are thus properly 

resolved in a group context”). When an association seeks “a purely legal ruling without 

requesting that the federal court award individualized relief to its members, the Hunt test may be 

satisfied.” Bano v. Union Carbide Corp., 361 F.3d 696, 714 (2d Cir. 2004). Further, when a 

plaintiff seeks “civil penalties and injunctive relief only, not money damages, its claims do not 

require ‘individualized proof.’” Trades Council, 448 F.3d at 150. Looking only at the relief 

requested in Trades Council, the Second Circuit found that the “third prong of the Hunt test for 

associational standing is [] clearly satisfied.” Id.  

In the present case, the NUWF and its members only request civil penalties and 

injunctive relief, not money damages. (R. 5). Consequently, no individualized proof is necessary 

to detail money damages. Instead, the fear of damage to the environment and the relief requested 

is shared by all members of the NUWF.  

II. BOWMAN’S VIOLATIONS ARE WHOLLY PAST, AND § 505(a) 

DOES NOT CONFER JURISDICTION OVER WHOLLY PAST 

VIOLATIONS. 

 

Section 505(a) does not confer subject matter jurisdiction over wholly past violations. 

Gwaltney of Smithfield, Ltd. v. Chesapeake Bay Found., Inc., 484 U.S. 49, 54 (1987) 

(unanimously decided) (interpreting 33 U.S.C. § 1365(a) (1987)). In order to violate the CWA, 

there must be a discharge of a pollutant from a “point source.” 33 U.S.C. § 1362(14) (1987). The 

residual effect of a wholly past discharge, until it is removed, is not a CWA “violation” as 

defined by the Act. Fallowfield Dev. Corp. v. Strunk, 1990 WL 52745 (E.D. Penn. April 23, 

1990). If this Court finds that the residue of Bowman’s discharge constitutes an ongoing 

violation, then that decision would run afoul of the Supreme Court holding in Gwaltney, defy the 
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“point source” requirement of a CWA violation, and render the notice requirement of § 505(b) 

superfluous. Gwaltney, 484 U.S. 49; 33 U.S.C. § 1362(14) (2006); 33 U.S.C. § 1365(b) (2006). 

A. Section 505(a) of the CWA does not confer subject matter jurisdiction 

over Bowman’s wholly past violations.  

 

Section 505(a) states, “any citizen may commence a civil action on his own behalf 

against any person …who is alleged to be in violation…” of the CWA. 33 U.S.C. § 1365(a) 

(2006) (emphasis added). The language “alleged to be in violation” is present tense and does not 

confer jurisdiction over wholly past violations. Gwaltney, 484 U.S. at 54 (interpreting 33 U.S.C. 

§1365(a) (1987)). To prevail on a motion for summary judgment, the plaintiff must make a 

“good-faith allegation of continuous or intermittent violation.” Id. Those allegations must 

demonstrate that “the violations continued on or after the date the complaint was filed, or that a 

reasonable trier of fact could find a continuing likelihood of a recurrence in intermittent or 

sporadic violations.” Id. (emphasis added).  

Understanding what constitutes a CWA “violation” under § 301 is helpful to the analysis 

of an ongoing violation because the elements under that section have to be met in order to prevail 

on summary judgment. Section 301(a) of the CWA makes it unlawful to discharge a pollutant 

into navigable waters from a “point source” without a permit. 33 U.S.C. § 1311(a) (2006). A 

“point source” is defined in § 502(14) as “any discernible, confined and discrete conveyance, 

including but not limited to any pipe, ditch, channel, tunnel, conduit, well, discrete fissure, 

container, rolling stock, concentrated animal feeding operation, or vessel or other floating craft, 

from which pollutants are or may be discharged.” 33 U.S.C. § 1362(14) (2006).  

As the definition of “violation” is helpful to this analysis, so is the Supreme Court’s 

interpretation of a “wholly past” violation. In Gwaltney, the plaintiffs brought a civil action 

against Gwaltney, a meat-packing plant, for the illegal discharge of total Kjeldahl (TKN). 
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Gwaltney, 484 U.S. at 54. The plaintiffs filed their suit in June 1984, approximately one month 

after Gwaltney’s last recorded TKN violation. Id. The Court held that because Gwaltney’s last 

TKN violation occurred before the plaintiffs filed their suit and newly installed technology 

prevented a future TKN violation, Gwaltney’s violations were wholly past. Id. at 64.  

The present tense language of § 505(a) disallows civil actions brought for wholly past 

violations, like the suit brought in Gwaltney. The language, “alleged to be in violation,” requires 

that a defendant be in violation at the time the suit is filed and that a plaintiff make a “good-faith 

allegation of continuous or intermittent violation” to prevail on a motion for summary judgment. 

Gwaltney, 484 U.S. at 54, 64. Specifically, plaintiffs must demonstrate “a state of either 

continuous or intermittent violation; that is, a reasonable likelihood that a past polluter will 

pollute again.” Id. at 57; see also Conn. Coastal Fisherman’s Ass’n. v. Remington Arms Co., 

Inc., 989 F.2d 1305, 1312 (2d Cir. 1993) (holding that there was no reasonable likelihood of 

recurrence because the shooting facility had ceased operations before the suit was brought); 

Orange Envt., Inc. v. Cnty. of Orange, 923 F. Supp. 529, 540 (S.D.N.Y. 1996) (holding that there 

was no recurrence because the landfill operation was complete); Wilson v. Amoco Corp., 33 F. 

Supp. 2d 969, 975-76 (D. Wyo. 1998) (dismissing plaintiff’s claim because the release of toxic 

contaminants occurred years prior to the filing of the suit); Coon v. Willet Dairy, LP, 536 F.3d 

171, 173 (2d Cir. 2008) (dismissing plaintiff’s claims because they presented no evidence that 

the animal waste and silage leachate violation was ongoing or likely to recur).  

The facts of the case at hand are analogous to the cases mentioned above. On July 15, 

2011, Bowman ceased his land clearing operation and on August 30, 2011, the NUWF filed suit 

against him for violating the CWA. (R. 4, 5). When the NUWF filed suit, Bowman was 45 days 

removed from his land clearing operation. Therefore, Bowman’s violations were wholly past. 
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For three reasons, the NUWF cannot in good faith assert that Bowman’s violations will 

recur. First, on August 1, 2011, Bowman voluntarily entered into a settlement agreement with the 

NUDEP to end his land clearing operation, which essentially rendered his bulldozer (i.e., the 

“point source”) useless. (R. 4, 5). Second, Bowman consented to a conservation easement 

covering 225 feet (150ft of remaining wooded land and a 75 foot buffer zone) of his personal 

property, which is protected from alteration under the same settlement agreement. (R. 4). Third, 

Bowman agreed to fund the maintenance of that conservation easement with his personal 

finances; the cost of which could be detrimental. Id. 

Given Bowman’s settlement agreement to cease the use of his bulldozer for land clearing, 

donate his personal property, and fund the maintenance of the conservation agreement, it is 

unreasonable to infer that the CWA violations will recur. If Bowman were to violate the 

settlement agreement, he could detrimentally affect the conservation effort and incur both 

additional costs to repair those affects and penalties borne by potential civil actions. Those 

financial burdens alone suffice to offset any desire to pursue future violations.  

B. The residual effects of a past discharge, either under § 402 or § 404, are 

not an ongoing violation because such a declaration would have 

significant legal and policy implications.  

 

 “Continuing residual effects resulting from a discharge are not equivalent to a continuing 

discharge” and do not constitute an ongoing violation. Hamker v. Diamond Shamrock Chem. 

Co., 756 F.2d 392, 397 (5th Cir. 1985) (relied upon by the Supreme Court Gwaltney). Permitting 

liability for wholly past violations would render § 505(b)’s notice provision superfluous. 

Gwaltney, 484 U.S. at 64. Permitting liability for residual effects would also readout “point 

source” from the definition of a CWA violation. Sierra Club v. El Paso Gold Mines, Inc., 2002 

WL 33932715, at *19 (D. Colo. Nov. 15, 2002).  



17 

 

1. Residual effects of a past discharge do not constitute an ongoing 

violation because strict interpretation of Gwaltney does not support 

such a conclusion. 

 

The residual effects of a discharged pollutant (§ 402) or fill material (§ 404) into 

navigable waters do not constitute an ongoing violation. Although Gwaltney involved a § 402 

violation, the Court’s analysis has been used in both § 402 and § 404 cases to dismiss the 

“residual effects” argument. See U.S. Pub. Interest Research Grp. v. Stolt Sea Farm, Inc., 32 

ELR 30537, at 19 (D. Me. Feb. 19, 2002) (blood water); Brewer v. Raven, 680 F. Supp. 1176, 

1182 (M.D. Tenn. 1988) (polychlorinated biphenyls (PCB) effluents); Aiello v. City of 

Brookhaven, 136 F. Supp. 2d 81, 120 (E.D.N.Y. 2001) (leachate plume); Coon, 536 F.3d at 173 

(animal waste and silage leachate); see also Remington, 989 F.2d at 1312 (16 million pounds of 

decomposing lead shot and clay fragments into a marsh); Friends of Santa Fe County v. LAC 

Minerals, Inc., 892 F. Supp. 1333, 1354 (D.N.M. 1995) (acid mine discharges); Potomac 

Riverkeeper, Inc. v. Nat’l Capital Skeet & Trap Club, Inc., 388 F. Supp. 2d 582, 585-86 (D. Md. 

2005) (previously deposited lead). Thus, this court is correct in using Gwaltney as well.  

2. Residual effects of a past discharge cannot constitute an ongoing 

violation because such a conclusion would render § 505(b) 

superfluous.  

 

Gwaltney also provided significant legal reasons to disallow suits brought for wholly past 

violations. Among them were detailed discussions regarding congressional intent, statutory 

interpretation, and the notice requirement of § 505(b). Gwaltney, 484 U.S. at 59-63. With respect 

to § 505(b), the Court stated that § 505(b)’s notice provision has the purpose of allowing the 

violator to come into compliance of the Act and thus “render unnecessary a citizen suit” because 

“such a suit might intrude upon governmental discretion to enforce the Act in the public 

interest.” Gwaltney, 484 U.S. at 59-60.  
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If Bowman were held liable for his past discharge, it would render the NUWF’s notice on 

July 1, 2011 superfluous. As Gwaltney held, the purpose of the notice requirement is to allow the 

defendant an opportunity to bring himself into complete compliance with the Act and “thus make 

the citizen suit unnecessary.” Gwaltney, 484 U.S. at 64. Accordingly, Bowman ceased his land 

clearing operation 15 days after receiving notice from the NUWF. (R. 4). This not only purported 

with the Court’s interpretation of the notice requirement’s purpose, but also rendered the 

NUWF’s suit brought 45 days later unnecessary. If the NUWF were allowed to pursue this suit 

on the merits, despite the fact that Bowman’s violations were wholly past, that would also 

undermine and supplant the Gwaltney Court’s secondary focus in preserving the interests in the 

public. For these reasons, the NUWF’s suit is precisely what the Supreme Court sought to 

prohibit.  

3. Residual effects of past discharges cannot constitute an ongoing 

violation because such a conclusion would redefine “point source” 

under § 506(14). 

 

Aside from the detrimental effect on § 505(b)’s notice requirement, other courts have 

made statutory arguments to the same end. In El Paso Gold Mines, Inc., the court held that in 

order to violate the CWA, there must be a discharge of a pollutant from a “point source.” El Paso 

Gold Mines, Inc., 2002 WL 33932715, at *19 (dismissing the argument that the defendant’s 

violation was similar to the Remington Arms Co., Inc., Friends of Sante Fe County, Wilson, and 

Aiello cases because those cases did not involve a point source); see also Wilson, 33 F. Supp. 2d 

at 975 (considering migration of residual contamination as an ongoing discharge would 

“undermine the CWA’s limitations as set forth in the statute’s definition of point source and the 

Supreme Court’s holding in Gwaltney”).   
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The NUWF’s contention that Bowman’s violation is ongoing until the discharges are 

removed is completely divorced from the statutory language of § 303(a). The NUWF must prove 

that on the date they filed suit, Bowman either continuously or intermittently violated the Act. In 

order to commit a violation there must be a “point source,” which is not present in this case. 

Prior to the NUWF’s suit, Bowman was prevented from using his bulldozer, the point source, to 

violate the settlement between him and the NUDEP. (R. 4). In terms of preventing future 

violations of the CWA, the settlement between Bowman and the NUDEP can be construed in the 

same way as the new technology Gwaltney installed to prevent further TKN emissions, which 

transformed Gwaltney’s TKN violations into wholly past acts. A contrary holding in the case at 

hand would redefine “point source” to include pollutants moving on their own free will, which is 

not among the listed options within Congress’s definition of a “point source” under § 502(14). 

For the foregoing reasons, Bowman’s discharge residue should not be considered an 

ongoing violation. Aside from the statutory and policy implications, the Supreme Court has 

taken a firm stance on disallowing subject matter jurisdiction for wholly past violations pursuant 

to § 505(a). Because Bowman’s violations are wholly past, the NUWF lacks subject matter 

jurisdiction, and Bowman’s motion for summary judgment on this issue should be affirmed.  

III. THE NUDEP’S DILIGENT PROSECUTION PURSUANT TO § 505(b) OF 

THE CWA BARS THE NUWF’S CITIZEN SUIT. 

 

“No action may be commenced . . . if the Administrator or State has commenced and is 

diligently prosecuting a civil or criminal action in a court of the United States, or a State to 

require compliance with the standard, limitation, or order, but in any such action in a court of the 

United States any citizen may intervene as a matter of right.” 33 U.S.C. § 1365(b)(1)(B) (2006). 

Prosecution is diligent so long as it is “capable of requiring compliance with the [Clean Water] 

Act and in good faith calculated to do so.” Ohio Valley Envtl. Coal., Inc. v. Maple Coal Co., 808 
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F. Supp. 2d 868, 884 (S.D. W.Va. 2011). Diligent prosecution is simply required to be just that: 

diligent. Karr v. Hefner, 475 F.3d 1192, 1197 (10th Cir. 2007).  

Furthermore, citizen suits are “meant to supplement rather than supplant” government 

suits. Gwaltney, 484 U.S. at 60. That said, the government agency has preference over a citizen 

claim, and its prosecution is presumed diligent absent proof to the contrary. See Friends of the 

Earth, Inc., et al. v. Laidlaw Envtl. Servs. (TOC), Inc., 890 F. Supp. 470, 487 (D. S.C. 1995) 

(discussing the issue of diligent prosecution implicitly supported in the Supreme Court decision 

infra); see also Chesapeake Bay Found., Inc. v. Severstal Sparrows Point, LLC, et al., 794 F. 

Supp. 2d 602, 613 (D. Md. 2011) (finding diligent prosecution even though the company 

struggled with compliance with the consent decree due to corporate restructuring). A citizen-

plaintiff bears the burden of proving non-diligence, and that burden is heavy due to an agency’s 

preference and the preexisting presumption of diligence. Laidlaw, 890 F. Supp. at 487.  

Citizen suits are only permitted if the government is failing to exercise its enforcement 

responsibilities. Gwaltney, 484 U.S. at 53, 64 (citing S. Rep. No. 92-414, p. 64 (1971)). Courts 

take a “totality of the circumstances” approach when determining whether a prosecution is 

diligent. Laidlaw, 890 F. Supp. at 491. “An evaluation of ‘diligence’ measures comprehensively 

the process and effects of agency prosecution.” Student Pub. Interest Research Grp. of N.J., Inc. 

v. Fritzsche, Dodge & Olcott, Inc. (SPIRG), 579 F. Supp. 1528, 1535 (D. N.J. 1984). The 

government’s efforts are not required to be “far-reaching or zealous,” nor does its strategy need 

to match that of the citizen-plaintiff’s. Hefner, 475 F.3d at 1197. Therefore, the NUWF’s citizen 

suit should be barred, in keeping with both the application and purpose of the diligent 

prosecution standard. 
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A. The NUWF cannot meet the high burden of proof to show a lack of 

diligent prosecution because diligent prosecution is presumed. 

 

The diligent prosecution bar applies if a government “is diligently prosecuting or has 

diligently prosecuted a judicial action to enforce violations . . .” Laidlaw, 890 F. Supp. at 486-87. 

Section 505 of the CWA only allows citizen suits against violators when the government has 

failed or is failing to prosecute. Gwaltney, 484 U.S. at 53, 64 (citing 33 U.S.C. § 1365 (1987)); 

Hefner, 475 F.3d at 1197 (citing Ellis v. Gallatin Steel Co., 390 F.3d 461, 477 (6th Cir. 2004)). 

“[T]he purpose underlying the ‘diligent prosecution’ provision [is] that a defendant not be 

subjected simultaneously to multiple suits, and potentially to conflicting court orders, to enforce 

the same statutory standard.” Laidlaw, 890 F. Supp. 2d at 485 (citation omitted). Moreover, “a 

state agency ‘must be given great deference to proceed in a manner it considers in the best 

interests of all parties involved.” Cmty. of Cambridge Envtl. Health and Cmty. Dev. Group, et al. 

v. City of Cambridge, 115 F. Supp. 2d 550, 554 (D. M.D. 2000) (finding diligent prosecution 

when the agency strived to enforce a consent order after receiving reports of the city’s CWA 

violations) (quoting Ark. Wildlife Fed’n v. ICI Am., Inc., 842 F. Supp. 1140, 1147 (E.D. Ark. 

1993), aff’d, 20 F.3d 376 (8th Cir. 1994)). Citizen-plaintiffs bear a heavy burden of proving non-

diligent prosecution because the government’s prosecution is presumed to be diligent absence an 

opposite showing. Laidlaw, 890 F. Supp. at 487.  

1. Because the NUDEP is owed great deference as a state agency, 

the NUDEP’s prosecution of Bowman is presumed to be 

diligent. 

  

The NUDEP is owed deference because diligence is presumed when a government 

agency is pursuing prosecution under the CWA. Severstal Sparrows, 794 F. Supp. 2d at 613 

(citing Piney Run Pres. Ass’n v. Cnty Comm’rs, 523 F.2d 453, 456 (4th Cir. 2008)). Citizen suits 

can only be brought under certain circumstances to function as a “check to ensure the . . . 
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governments are diligent in prosecuting Clean Water Act violations.” Id. at 608-09. This 

distinction is critical because it clearly shows that the CWA delegated primary responsibility to 

federal and state agencies over civil actions, not the citizens themselves. Laidlaw, 890 F. Supp. at 

487. 

Because environmental agencies deal with specialized environmental issues and are 

experts on Acts that pertain to them, the deference owed to those agencies under those Acts 

should not be contravened. Some courts agree with this notion and have held that agency’s 

prosecutions are diligent with little scrutiny aimed toward the agency’s efforts to prosecute 

violations. See Sierra Club, et al. v. ICG E., LLC, 833 F. Supp. 2d 571, 578 (N.D. W.Va. 2011) 

(holding that the prosecution was diligent simply because it resulted in a consent decree) 

(internal citations omitted); Hefner, 475 F.3d at 1197, 1199 (holding that prosecution is diligent 

even if not each potential defendant is prosecuted due to the state’s prosecutorial discretion, and 

the thorough consent decree alone also constituted diligent prosecution by addressing 

substantially the same issues as the citizen claim). Even suspect agency procedure is not enough 

to disprove diligent prosecution. Laidlaw, 890 F. Supp. at 489 (citation omitted). Additionally, 

courts should not “interpret the scope of the ‘diligent prosecution’ bar in a manner that would 

undermine the [government agency’s] ability to reach voluntary settlements with defendants.” 

Severstal Sparrows, 794 F. Supp. 2d at 614. 

The procedural history in the case at hand shows that the NUDEP is prosecuting 

Bowman’s case with the presumed expertise that supports giving such deference to agencies. 

After receiving notice of Bowman’s CWA violations, the NUDEP quickly informed Bowman of 

its intent to sue. (R. 4). Shortly thereafter, the parties entered into a settlement agreement that 

was later incorporated into an administrative order. Id. The NUDEP also furthered its diligence 
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by filing suit against Bowman and filing a motion to enter a consent decree identical to the 

administrative order. (R. 5). The NUDEP’s prosecution is diligent for the following reasons: (1) 

the NUDEP pursued Bowman’s prosecution in a timely manner; (2) the NUDEP initiated an 

agreement and administrative order, with which Bowman is in compliance, and; (3) the NUDEP 

pursued the matter further in federal court with a pending agreement identical to the 

aforementioned administrative order. (R. 4-5). 

2. The NUWF cannot meet the heavy burden of proving a lack of 

diligent prosecution on the part of the NUDEP. 

 To bring a citizen suit, the citizen-plaintiff bears the burden of proving that the 

government has not diligently prosecuted or is not diligently prosecuting the same violation 

under the CWA. City of Cambridge, 115 F. Supp. 2d at 550 (citing Williams Pipe Line Co. v. 

Bayer Corp., 964 F. Supp. 1300, 1334 (S.D. Iowa 1997)). This burden is a heavy one, requiring 

the citizen-plaintiff to show a significant failure on the government’s part to remedy the 

violation. See Hefner, 475 F.3d at 1198 (noting that citizen-plaintiffs “have a high burden to 

show that the government has failed to prosecute a violation of the CWA diligently.”); but see 

Maple Coal Co., 808 F. Supp. 2d at 883, 885 (holding that the government did not diligently 

prosecute the company because their complaint was overly vague and, in effect, allowed the 

company to continue to violate the CWA); Laidlaw, 890 F. Supp. at 470 (holding that the 

government’s significant delay in pursuing a claim and filing of a suit for the sole purpose of 

attempting to bar a citizen claim was suspect and did not meet the diligent prosecution standard 

to bar a citizen claim). 

It is not enough that a citizen-plaintiff wishes a more aggressive strategy than that taken 

by the government. Hefner, 475 F.3d at 1198. In other words, a citizen suit is not permitted 

“absent persuasive testimony that the state has engaged in a pattern of conduct in its prosecution 
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that could be considered dilatory, collusive, or otherwise in bad faith.” City of Cambridge, 115 F. 

Supp. 2d at 554 (quoting Conn. Coastal Fisherman’s Ass’n. v. Remington Arms Co., Inc., 777 F. 

Supp. at 173, 183 (D. Conn. 1991)). In Remington, the court made a finding of diligent 

prosecution, even though the remedy sought by the state was incredibly more lenient than that 

sought by the citizen-plaintiffs. Id.; Remington, 777 F. Supp. at 195. The purpose of giving 

government agencies this primary authority is not to stifle citizen suits, but to limit citizen suits 

for the purpose of encouraging out-of-court settlements between agencies and polluters. Laidlaw, 

890 F. Supp. at 470.  

Further, the NUWF’s citizen suit should be barred in keeping with the policy behind § 

505(b)(1)(B). The purpose of the diligent prosecution provision is to eliminate simultaneous suits 

and multiple orders. Laidlaw, 890 F. Supp. at 485 (citation omitted). Courts determine whether 

diligent prosecution is occurring by assessing the totality of the circumstances. Id. at 491. “An 

evaluation of ‘diligence’ measures comprehensively the process and effects of agency 

prosecution.” SPIRG, 579 F. Supp. at 1535. In Laidlaw, the court outlined a test to determine 

diligent prosecution that balances the CWA’s clear preference for government action against the 

recognized policy for allowing citizens to participate when needed. Laidlaw, 890 F. Supp. at 489. 

Additionally, diligent prosecution must be determined at the time the citizen suit is filed. Maple 

Coal, 808 F. Supp. 2d at 886. 

If the agency’s action is “capable of requiring compliance” with the CWA and is 

“calculated to do so,” there should be a finding of diligent prosecution. Friends of Milwaukee’s 

Rivers and Alliance for the Great Lakes v. Milwaukee Metro. Sewerage Dist., 382 F.3d 743, 759 

(7th Cir. 2004) (hereinafter FMR I) (citation omitted) (allowing the citizen suit because the city 

did not enforce the stipulation for 25 years and untreated sewage was still periodically 
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discharged into Lake Michigan). A showing of diligent prosecution requires a showing of 

“specific measures taken to redress a violation and a substantial and ongoing response by the 

enforcement agency.” Water Quality Prot. Coal. v. Municipality of Arecibo, 2012 WL 1512124 

(P.R., May 1, 2012) at *7 (allowing the citizen suit since the city had ignored the issue for three 

years and the violations were causing the beaches to smell and affect residents and recreational 

users). The main issue is not whether the agency’s actions “can be effectively prosecuted in court 

. . . [a] sharper focus on the issue is whether or not the [agency] was diligently prosecuting an 

enforcement action at the time this suit was filed.” Id. 

 The NUWF’s citizen claim should be barred because they cannot meet the heavy burden 

of proving that the NUDEP failed to diligently prosecute Bowman. The NUDEP has, in a timely 

manner, entered into an agreement and administrative order, with which Bowman is already 

compliant, and pursued the matter further in federal court with an identical pending agreement. 

(R. 4-5). Accordingly, the NUDEP and Bowman’s motion for summary judgment should be 

granted on this issue. 

B. The NUDEP’s prosecution of and consent decree with Bowman satisfy 

the requirements of diligent prosecution. 

 

Citizen suits are only permitted in the absence of government enforcement if the 

government is failing to exercise its enforcement responsibility or appears unwilling to act. 

Gwaltney, 484 U.S. at 53, 64 (citation omitted) (emphasis added); Arecibo, 2012 WL 1512124; 

see also Or. State Pub. Interest Research Grp., Inc. v. Pac. Coast Seafoods Co., 341 F. Supp. 2d 

1170, 1179 (D. Or. 2004) (holding that the failure of the government to step in when ongoing 

violations of seafood waste disposal into the Skipanon River caused oxygen levels toxic to 

aquatic life was a classic example of the purpose of § 505 to give citizens the opportunity to act).  
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While lenient enforcement “far less” than the maximum penalty allowed could support an 

argument of non-diligent prosecution, it alone will not suffice. Laidlaw, 890 F. Supp. at 491. If 

the plaintiff disagrees with the level of aggression being exhibited by the agency, that will also 

not suffice to show non-diligence of the prosecution. Severstal Sparrows, 794 F. Supp. 2d at 

614-16 (citations omitted); see also Laidlaw, 890 F. Supp. at 490 (citation omitted); ICG E., at 

578 (holding that the citizen suit was barred because it was not enough that the citizen-plaintiffs 

felt that there should be harsher punishments than those levied by the government); Supporters to 

Oppose Pollution, Inc. v. Heritage Grp., 973 F.2d 1320, 1324 (7th Cir. 1992) (holding that the 

state had diligently prosecuted regardless of the citizen-plaintiff’s argument that their own 

definition of success should be the “benchmark”).  

Moreover, the agency does not have to be entirely successful in order to meet the diligent 

prosecution standard. FMR I, 382 F.3d at 759. It is also not necessary for the “agency to have 

perfect foresight.” Friends of Milwaukee’s Rivers and Alliance for the great Lakes v. Milwaukee 

Metro., 556 F.3d 603, 610 (7th Cir. 2009) (citing FMR I, 283 F.3d at 760). In Arkansas Wildlife, 

the court held that there was diligent prosecution even after the agency granted extensions for the 

compliance schedule and levied fees far below the statutory minimum. Ark. Wildlife, at 380-81. 

The facts of the case at hand are analogous to the abovementioned cases. Because 

Bowman remains in compliance with his agreement with the NUDEP, it would be unreasonable 

to assert that the NUDEP’s prosecution has not been sufficient. (R. 4, 5, 7, 8). The NUDEP has 

required that Bowman: (1) not clear wetlands on his property; (2) convey a conservation 

easement to the NUDEP of the still wooded part of his property plus an additional artificial 

wetland in a 75-foot zone that allows public entry for recreational purposes, improved 

“viewscape” of the Muddy River, and an enhanced environment for frogs; (3) construct and 
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maintain a year-round wetland on the 75-foot zone, and; (4) to not alter the easement area in any 

other way than his constructing and maintaining the artificial wetland. (R. 4, 7-8). In lieu of a 

monetary penalty, the NUDEP imposed the above requirements at a “considerable initial expense 

and an indeterminable future expense.” (R. 8). Accordingly, the NUDEP’s prosecution of 

Bowman is diligent and an appropriate exercise of NUDEP’s enforcement authority. 

In our case, the NUDEP sanctioned Bowman with the intent to cease the CWA 

violations, which comports with the rules set forth in the cases above. Bowman is in compliance 

with the agreement, and the agreement (1) stops future violations; (2) repairs harm done; (3) 

costs Bowman a considerable amount of time, effort, and financial support; and (4) improves the 

area for those in the community. The NUDEP’s prosecution is diligent, appropriate, and 

effective. Consequently, the NUDEP and Bowman’s motion for summary judgment for this issue 

should be granted, barring the NUWF’s citizen suit. 

IV. BOWMAN’S ACTIONS CONSTITUTED AN “ADDITION” AND 

THEREFORE VIOLATED §§ 301 AND 404 OF THE CWA.  

 

An action can be classified as an “addition” within the context of §§ 301 and 404 of the 

CWA without the introduction of material from the “outside world” into a water of the U.S. 

United States v. Deaton, 209 F.3d 331, 335-37 (4th Cir. 2000); see also Avoyelles Sportsmen’s 

League, Inc. v. Marsh, 715 F.2d 897, 922-24 (5th Cir. 1983); Greenfield Mills, Inc. v. Macklin, 

361 F.3d 934, 947-49 (7th Cir. 2004); Borden Ranch P’ship v. U.S. Army Corps of Eng’rs, 261 

F.3d 810 (9th Cir. 2001). In the context of §§ 301 and 404, the disturbance of previously benign 

material and the subsequent relocation of the dredged spoil, now a pollutant, a short distance 

from its point of origin is an “addition.” Deaton, 209 F.3d at 335-37 (stating that “[N]early every 

[] circuit to consider the question” of how to define “addition” has come to that same 

conclusion). Neither precedent nor the EPA’s interpretation of “addition” requiring “outside 
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world” material be introduced to a wetland are deserving of any deference by this Court. The 

lower court erred in adopting the “outside world” definition of “addition” for purposes of §§ 301 

and 404, which has only previously been applied in § 402 contexts. Therefore, the denial of the 

NUWF’s motion for summary judgment should be reversed.  

A. An activity may be an “addition” for purposes of §§ 301 and 404 

without material from the outside world being added to the waters. 

 

 The “outside world” definition is in direct conflict with the goals and purposes of §§ 301 

and 404 of the CWA in that the definition would allow for the destruction of wetlands that serve 

a vital role in the maintenance of the aquatic ecosystem. Further, the “outside world” definition 

would essentially read § 404 out of the CWA by creating a loophole for those re-depositing 

dredged material. 

1. The “outside world” definition is contrary to the goals and 

purposes of the CWA generally and §§ 301 and 404 

specifically. 

 

 Congress enacted §§ 301 and 404 as a way to further the goal of the CWA to “restore and 

maintain the chemical, physical, and biological integrity of the Nation’s waters.” 33 U.S.C. 

§1251(a) (2006). Wetlands play a major role in “maintaining water quality by trapping sediment 

and toxic and nontoxic pollutants before they reach streams, rivers, or other open bodies of 

water.” Deaton, 209 F.3d at 336 (citation omitted). The discharge of dredged material can 

“increase the amount of suspended sediment,” damage aquatic life, and can cause trapped 

pollutants to be released into a body of water. Id. These concerns caused Congress to determine 

that “plain dirt, once excavated from waters of the United States, could not be redeposited into 

those waters without causing harm to the environment.” Id. A distinction regarding the dredged 

material’s point of origin was not made in the statute because dredged spoil will have the same 

negative effects on “hydrology and the environment” regardless of its point of origin. Id. 
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 In a case with almost identical facts to our case, the Fifth Circuit concluded that when the 

defendant cut timber and vegetation, raked the leveled vegetation into windrows, burned the 

windrows, disced the ashes into the ground, leveled the field, and then dug a drainage ditch, his 

activities were considered to be an “addition” under § 404 of the CWA. Avoyelles, 715 F.2d at 

901, 923. The court recognized that the defendant’s activities “significantly alter[ed] the 

character of the wetlands and limit[ed] the vital ecological functions served by the tract.” Id. at 

923 (concluding that in order be consistent with “the purposes and legislative history of the 

statute,” these activities must be considered an “addition”).  

Bowman’s “outside world” definition requires the Court to ignore Congressional intent 

regarding the goals of the CWA, the vital role played by wetlands in the aquatic ecosystem, and 

the damage caused to that ecosystem by redepositing dredged material. Similar to Avoyelles, 

Bowman’s actions constitute an “addition” within Congress’s meaning of the term. Adopting the 

“outside world” definition urged by Bowman would essentially remove the dredge-and-fill 

provision from the statute and provide land developers a loophole in which they can escape 

adherence to § 404 if they rearrange the material already in a wetland to level and fill that 

wetland. Dredging activities in which the material is kept on site would essentially become 

deregulated, allowing land developers to destroy the natural safeguard wetlands provide for 

waters of the U.S. 

2. The “outside world” definition of “addition” is not appropriate 

for application to § 404 cases.  

 

 The cases cited by the NUDEP and Bowman as authority for the “outside world” 

definition are solely § 402 cases, which do not consider the implications this definition would 

have on § 404 cases. R. at 9 (citing Nat’l Wildlife Fed’n v. Gorsuch, 693 F.2d 156, 161 (D.C. 

Cir. 1982); Nat’l Wildlife Fed’n v. Consumers Power, 862 F.2d 580 (6th Cir. 1988)). In Gorsuch, 
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the D.C. Circuit noted that in considering whether dam-caused pollution required a § 402 permit, 

“references to dams in § 404” were immaterial to the issue. Gorsuch, 693 F.2d at 177. The court 

stated that § 404 was immaterial because “Congress created a special section to deal with dredge 

and fill problems,” and § 404 “tells us little about what it would have done about the dam-caused 

problems” regarding § 402. Id. Likewise, § 402 tells us little about how “addition” would be 

defined in § 404.  

 Similar terms used throughout a statute do not have the same meaning in different parts 

of the same statute simply because Congress did not expressly provide otherwise. Atlantic 

Cleaners & Dyers v. United States, 286 U.S. 427, 433 (1932). In Atlantic Cleaners, the Supreme 

Court noted that the “same term, same meaning” rule is not a “rigid” rule and that courts should 

“readily yield” to other more appropriate meanings of a term. Id. In furtherance of this point, the 

Court declared that “[m]ost words have different shades of meaning and consequently may be 

variously construed, not only when they occur in different statutes, but when used more than 

once in the same statute or even in the same section.” Id. at 433. The Court stated that “purposes 

of the law,” “subject matter,” and “circumstances under which the language was employed” must 

all be considered when determining the meaning of a term. Id. 

 In Environmental Defense v. Duke Energy Corp., the Supreme Court considered the 

definition of “modification” within different sections of the Clean Air Act. 549 U.S. 561 (2007). 

The Court held that “[a] given term in the same statute may take on distinct characters from 

association with distinct statutory objects calling for different implementation strategies.” Id. at 

574. This principle holds true “even when the terms share a common statutory definition.” Id. 

The Supreme Court has applied this principle to the definition of “discharge” in the CWA by 

holding “the understanding that something must be added [to a body of water] in order to 
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implicate § 402 does not explain what suffices for a discharge under § 401.” S.D. Warren Co. v. 

Me. Bd. of Envtl. Prot., 547 U.S. 370, 381 (2006). 

 Section 402, and the meaning of the terms within it, must be read separately from §§ 301 

and 404 because each of these sections has its own separate concerns and unique set of 

circumstances in which it applies. In a joint regulation issued by the EPA and the USACE, the 

agencies noted that there is a “fundamental difference” between §§ 402 and 404, and therefore, 

the agencies should employ “different approaches” to implement each section. 65 Fed. Reg. 21, 

292, 21,293 (April 20, 2000) (codified at 40 C.F.R. pt. 232; 33 C.F.R. pt. 323). The agencies also 

declared that “[f]ill material differs fundamentally from the types of pollutants covered by [§] 

402,” and that “the [§] 404 permitting process focuses on different considerations than the [§] 

402 permitting program.” Id. (emphasis added). Also, § 402 is administered by the EPA while § 

404 is primarily administered by the USACE. Id. Despite §§ 402 and 404 being in the same 

statute, the concerns, considerations, and subject matter in each section are inherently different 

and are controlled by different agencies. Therefore, the meaning of a term in § 402 cannot be 

automatically imputed to the same term in § 404 without independent justification. 

B. The EPA’s interpretation of “addition” incorporating the “unitary 

navigable waters” theory is not entitled to deference under § 404.  

 

Judicial deference may be granted to executive agencies when interpreting ambiguous 

statutory language because of their general expertise on substantive matters involving the statute. 

Chevron U.S.A. Inc. v. Natural Res. Def. Council, Inc., 467 U.S. 837 (1984). In order to be 

accorded deference, the agency must be charged with administering the statute in question, and 

the agency’s interpretation must be based upon a “permissible construction of the statute.” Id. at 

843. While the term “addition” might be ambiguous, the “outside world” definition is not based 

on a permissible construction of the statute. In this case, the EPA’s interpretation deserves no 
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deference because the EPA is not the sole agency responsible for administering § 404, it was 

originally created for purposes of litigation, it is contained within a preamble to a rule, and most 

importantly, the preamble explicitly states that the rule should not affect the § 404 program.  

1. The EPA’s interpretation of “addition” is not entitled to 

deference because § 404 is implemented by both the EPA and 

the USACE. 

 

There is a general exception to the application of Chevron deference “when more than 

one agency is tasked with administering [a] statute.” Mingo Logan Coal Co. v. U.S. E.P.A., 850 

F. Supp. 2d 133, 148 (D.C. Cir. 2012). In Mingo Logan, the Fourth Circuit considered the 

amount of deference that should be given to the EPA’s interpretation of § 404(c), which 

explicitly gives the EPA the power to veto a § 404 permit issued by the USACE. Id.; 33 U.S.C. 

1344(c) (2006). The court concluded that “the administration of [§] 404 as a whole is plainly 

entrusted to both agencies.” Id. After considering the joint duties of both agencies under § 404, 

the court held that the “EPA is entitled to no deference at all” regarding § 404. Id. 

The considerations about the joint task of administration of § 404 between the EPA and 

the USACE are exactly the same in the present case. Following Mingo Logan, no deference at all 

should be given to the EPA’s interpretation of “addition” because the EPA and the USACE are 

jointly responsible for implementing § 404. In our case, the EPA’s interpretation is even less 

influential because the EPA’s interpretation is based solely on § 402 considerations as opposed 

to the § 404 considerations made by the EPA in Mingo Logan.  

2. The EPA’s “outside world” definition originated as a litigation 

tactic for § 402 cases and the EPA has expressly advised 

against applying that definition to § 404 cases.  

 

The Second Circuit observed that the EPA’s “outside world” definition was developed 

approximately 30 years ago and based on “a series of informal policy statements made in 
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consistent litigation positions taken by the EPA.” Catskill Mountains Chapter of Trout 

Unlimited, Inc. v. City of New York, 273 F.3d 481, 490 (2d Cir. 2001). The Supreme Court has 

expressed skepticism when an agency’s interpretations of a term are not brought to light until the 

issue is litigated. This skepticism has led to reluctance in granting deference to an agency on 

those novel matters. Auer v. Robbins, 519 U.S. 452, 461-62 (1997). The EPA’s subsequent 

interpretation found in the preamble to the Water Transfer Rule was only intended to affect § 

402, not §§ 301 and 404. 40 C.F.R. § 122.1(a)(1) (2011). The EPA’s interpretation should not be 

afforded deference if the EPA did not consider the factual situation to which it would apply 

during the formation of the interpretation.  

 In more recent cases, the EPA has since diverged from its strict “outside world” 

definition. Greenfield Mills, 361 F.3d at 934. In Greenfield Mills, the EPA submitted an amicus 

curiae brief advocating for “the broader definition of ‘addition’ employed by the courts in the 

more recent § 404 cases.” Id. at 948. Following the direction of the EPA, the Seventh Circuit 

acknowledged that Gorsuch and Consumers Power had been “undercut severely” by more recent 

cases and adopted a definition of “addition” that did not require material from the outside world 

to be added. Id. The EPA’s position in the amicus brief to adopt the broader definition of 

“addition” is due deference because an agency advancing an interpretation in an amicus brief is 

not acting in its own self-interest. Auer, 519 U.S. at 461-62.  

The EPA’s position in the Greenfield Mills case is more amenable to its position in the 

preamble when considering § 404 permits. In promulgating the final rule regarding the unitary 

navigable waters theory, the EPA specifically considered the effect the rule would have on the § 

404 permitting program. 73 Fed. Reg. 33,697, 33,703 (June 13, 2008) (codified at 40 C.F.R. pt. 

122). Because the rule “implies that dredged material never requires a permit unless the dredged 



34 

 

material originates from a waterbody that is not a water of the U.S.,” the EPA stated that the final 

rule “has no effect on the 404 permit program.” Id. (emphasis added). The amicus brief 

submitted by the EPA in Greenfield Mills is particularly damaging to Bowman’s argument 

because it is one of the few occasions the EPA has addressed the definition of “addition” in the 

context of § 404 instead of in the context of § 402. It is illogical for Bowman to ask this Court to 

give deference to the EPA’s interpretation of “addition” as it applies to § 402 and at the same 

time ask this Court to completely ignore the EPA’s explicit determination that its definition does 

not apply to § 404 permits when § 404 is the section at issue in this case.  

3. The EPA’s “outside world” interpretation does not deserve Chevron 

deference because it is contained in a preamble. 

 

 The preamble to a proposed and final rule is not entitled to Chevron deference. In Vigil v. 

Leavitt, the Ninth Circuit refused to give Chevron deference to the EPA’s “General Preamble 

and Addendum” to Title I of the Clean Air Act because it fell into the category of “policy 

statements, agency manuals, and enforcement guidelines,” which lack the “force of law.” Virgil 

v. Leavitt, 381 F.3d 826, 835 (9th Cir. 2004) (citing Christensen v. Harris Cnty., 529 U.S. 576, 

587 (2000)). This court, however, stated that the preamble was due Skidmore deference, which is 

a less deferential standard. Id. Several courts have held that the language of a preamble to a rule 

is not controlling in judicial review, but instead, is only evidence of the agency’s intent. Wyo. 

Outdoor Council v. U.S. Forest Serv., 165 F.3d 43 (D.C. Cir. 1999) (citing Jurgensen v. Fairfax 

Cnty., 745 F.2d 868, 885 (4th Cir. 1985); see also Chemical Mfrs. Ass’n. v. DOT, 105 F.3d 702, 

708 (D.C. Cir. 1997)). In Langbecker v. Electronic Data Systems Corp., the Fifth Circuit stated 

that even though a footnote to a regulation that was in the preamble to the proposed rule was 

subject to notice and comment, it was “at best a comment on the regulations, and is not itself a 
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regulation.” 476 F.3d 299, n.22 (5th Cir. 2007) (concluding that an argument can even be made 

that language in a preamble and footnotes deserve no deference at all).  

 In this case, “addition” is not even mentioned in the regulation. Instead, the only time the 

EPA discusses the term “addition” in the preamble is when it is examining the history of what 

“addition” has been determined to mean by the EPA and the interpretations of various courts in 

the past regarding § 402 violations. 73 Fed. Reg. 33,697 (June 13, 2008) (codified at 40 C.F.R. 

pt. 122). Just as in Langbecker, this discussion in the preamble was just commentary on the final 

rule and deserving of no deference in judicial review. 

V.  CONCLUSION 

 The NUWF has associational standing to challenge Bowman’s actions as violating the 

CWA. However, this Court does not have subject matter jurisdiction because Bowman’s 

violations of the CWA are wholly past and NUDEP’s consent decree with Bowman amounts to a 

diligent prosecution of the case and therefore preempts the jurisdiction of this court. However, 

were this Court to decide it had jurisdiction to hear the case, Bowman’s initial actions prior to the 

consent decree should be deemed to have violated §§ 301 and 404 of the CWA. For the 

foregoing reasons, the NUDEP respectfully asks this Court to reverse the decision of the district 

court denying the NUWF’s standing claim, affirm the decision denying subject matter 

jurisdiction of this Court because Bowman’s actions were wholly past and the case had been 

diligently prosecuted, and reverse the decision of district court finding that Bowman did not 

violate §§ 301 and 404 of the CWA. 

Respectfully Submitted 

___________________ 

Counsel for NUDEP 


